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  INTRODUCTION




  An eighteenth-century French scholar attributed the British talent for eccentricity to a ‘mixture of fogs, beef and beer . . . aggravated by the tedium of the English

  Sunday’. Whatever the reason, for a small nation with a reputation for reserve, the British Isles do seem to have thrown up more than their fair share of oddballs. You could write a dozen

  books about British eccentrics without mentioning the same person twice. Try searching for ‘eccentric’ in the online Oxford Dictionary of National Biography and you will see what

  I mean – more than 1,000 results, and those are just the dead ones.




  It begs the question, who qualifies as a proper British eccentric? They appear to fall into two camps. On the one hand there are your ‘conscious’ eccentrics, i.e. people who

  carefully cultivate their reputation for oddness. This group includes the likes of Lord Berners, who dyed his doves in various pastel shades, and more recently Oliver Reed, among whose many party

  pieces was a fondness for dropping his trousers and displaying his tattooed penis in public. In this type of contrived eccentric behaviour, the joke is shared by the eccentric and by us. It is

  self-aware and ironic and demonstrates an ability to laugh at one’s self – another trait commonly associated with the British. Some might call it boorish attention-seeking.




  The other type are your ‘unconscious’ eccentrics. The people in this group have absolutely no idea how out of step their behaviour is. They go about their business with a degree of

  heroic innocence, like the part-time entomologist Colonel Henry Charles Harford, who fought in the Zulu War at Victory Hill in 1879 and in the heat of battle and in full view of the advancing Zulus

  chased a rare moth with his net, oblivious to the bullets striking the rocks all around him. Or Sir Richard Paget, who developed a sign language for the deaf and tested it on his daughters by

  stuffing their ears with treacle, then in the spirit of scientific enquiry threw them off the back of a moving bus to test his theory that the force of the air behind them would ensure that they

  landed on their feet. The latter group, arguably, are your ‘true’ eccentrics. According to Dr David Weeks, author of the world’s only scientific study of eccentricity, ‘a

  true eccentric is never acting’. Unless of course you are an actor, like Robert Coates, who thought he could ‘improve’ Shakespeare by ad-libbing and once tried to enliven a

  performance of Romeo and Juliet by taking a crowbar to Juliet’s tomb.




  Eccentricity is often linked to madness. Some eccentrics have been wrongly identified as mad, and vice versa. The earliest books about British eccentrics, starting with John Aubrey’s

  Brief Lives, which chronicled the oddities of various late-seventeenth-century oddballs, were mostly filled with hermits and religious zealots. Today we would recognize these

  ‘eccentrics’ as people suffering from varying degrees of mental illness. Dame Edith Sitwell’s English Eccentrics were mostly aristocrats, some of whom were undoubtedly mad.

  It was a question of class; whereas a mentally ill person from the lower orders was mad, a mad aristocrat was merely ‘eccentric’. Dame Edith, who was both an aristocrat and eccentric,

  was writing from considerable personal experience. Always dressed in black, she wore a number of vast topaz and aquamarine rings, which, she would explain as she constantly fingered them, became

  ‘worried’ if she didn’t give them enough attention, and although massively overdrawn at the bank, gave two parties a day at her favourite restaurant.




  Any new collection of ‘eccentric biography’ of course owes a debt to previous texts in this genre. For my money the best, and an inspiration for this book, is Brewer’s

  Rogues, Villains, Eccentrics: An A–Z of Roguish Britons Through the Ages by William Donaldson, another bona fide eccentric, who showed how to do it and make it very funny. In this

  collection of anecdotes and pen portraits I have covered some familiar ground but have also included some notable Britons from all walks of life who have been overlooked by previous authors in this

  genre, people not traditionally regarded as full-dress eccentrics but who nevertheless had their moments, such as Charles Babbage, who invented a calculating machine now acknowledged as the

  forerunner of the computer, but then dedicated much of his spare time working out the statistical probability of the biblical miracles, and Alexander Graham Bell, inventor of the telephone, who was

  apparently obsessed with nipples on sheep.




  As Donaldson points out, eccentricity of course is in the eye of the beholder. One man’s charming eccentric with ‘a dry sense of humour’ is another man’s tiresome old

  bigot (see Prince Philip, Duke of Edinburgh).








  

     

  




  One




  TRAVELLING


  ECCENTRICS




  ‘Just speak the Queen’s English loud


  enough and everyone understands’.




  

    — SEBASTIAN SNOW (1929–2001)


  




  Three men in a strop




  Exploration is the one scientific endeavour that requires no great understanding of the subject; it deals with the unknown. All you need is an enquiring mind and a lot of

  guts. It tends to attract people who are driven, single-minded and extraordinarily tough. Quite a lot of them have beards; a significant proportion are also quite mad. In the eighteenth and

  nineteenth centuries Britain had this hairy, robustly peculiar type in abundance, which was fortunate, because the British believed that great feats of geographical exploration were reserved for

  their countrymen alone, as though by divine appointment.




  One of the great obsessions of the age was the course of West Africa’s greatest river, the Niger. It had never been mapped and no one knew where it flowed. Speculation was rife. Some

  insisted that it flowed west to Gambia or Senegal. Others thought the Niger disappeared into a huge swamp called Wangara. There were those who believed it joined the Nile, or that it flowed into

  the Congo, or that it flowed nowhere at all and simply evaporated under the blazing Saharan sun. Dozens of explorers had died trying to find the answer. In 1822, Britain had another crack at trying

  to solve the mystery of the Niger with a team of three men. It resulted in the most acrimonious and badly planned expedition in the history of African exploration.




  Two of the three chosen for the expedition were Scots: a naval surgeon, Walter Oudney (1790–1824), and a naval officer, Hugh Clapperton (1788–1827). The third member of their party

  was an English army officer, Major Dixon Denham (1786–1828). It was a disastrous mix of clashing personalities. Denham was high-handed, self-important and treated the other two with barely

  concealed contempt. Clapperton was huge, red-bearded and quick-tempered. Both Scots bitterly resented Denham’s obnoxious, arrogant attitude. The mission was fatally undermined even before

  they set off by a misunderstanding over who should actually lead the expedition. The two Scots assumed that Clapperton was the leader, because he was the most senior ranking officer. The Colonial

  Office had told Denham that he was in charge. He knew no more about Africa than Oudney or Clapperton but had used his social connections to be given command. To add to the confusion there was no

  agreement over where they should even be looking. Oudney and Clapperton were under instructions to find Lake Chad, which had been mentioned in an earlier expedition as a possible outlet, while

  Denham was ordered to look for the Niger to the south. There was even a huge row over what they should wear. Denham thought they should go native by wearing turbans and robes. Oudney and Clapperton

  argued that in the interests of national pride they should wear full dress uniforms to remind the Africans how important Britain was. The Scots had their way, and in March 1822, the three men set

  off from Tripoli across the blazing Sahara in blue frock coats, white waistcoats, breeches and silk stockings. In the event their choice of clothing actually saved Denham’s life: at one point

  he became separated from the main body of the expedition and was captured by marauding tribesmen, who stripped him and started squabbling over his clothes. While his captors were arguing over their

  catch he was able to slip away; naked, dodging snakes and scrambling through thickets, he crawled, muddied and bleeding, back to camp.




  Large portions of their expedition are lost to posterity because, according to their published journal, it was ‘wholly uninteresting, and is therefore omitted’. The most remarkable

  thing about their journey across the Sahara was that all the way to Lake Chad, despite braving treacherous sandstorms, bouts of malaria and travelling for days without water while members of their

  party dropped dead around them like flies and even the camels were dying from exhaustion, the three men never once stopped arguing. Clapperton and Oudney were goaded by Denham’s habit of

  constantly giving orders. Denham was irritated by Clapperton’s mistreatment of, and constant threats to shoot, his native bearers. Denham also accused Clapperton of having sex with one of

  them. Casual sex with natives during expeditions into Africa was not unusual; Denham himself was not averse to the charms of African ladies. In Clapperton’s case, however, the native in

  question was a man. Clapperton vehemently denied the accusation and Oudney stood by him, but from that point onwards even the faintest hope of unity in the camp was abandoned.




  In January 1824, Oudney died from tuberculosis, aggravated by intermittent bouts of fever. Denham and Clapperton stopped arguing just long enough to agree that it was time to go home. This was

  only a signal, however, to start another row over which route to take. In the end they decided to return the way they had come, and so they bickered and squabbled all the way back to London.




  A couple of years later, Clapperton died during yet another attempt at finding the mouth of the Niger. As the only surviving member of the party, Denham came to be regarded as the hero of the

  expedition and was elected a fellow of the Royal Society. In 1826, he published his Narrative of Travels and Discoveries in Northern and Central Africa, in which he left out almost all

  mention of his companions and took the credit for most of their discoveries.




  There was just one footnote to the failed Clapperton-Denham-Oudney expedition – the fate of the menagerie of animals they had brought home with them, including a horse, a sheep, a

  mongoose, four ostriches, three parrots, a monkey, a shark and three slugs. A home was found for the parrots and the monkey but the fate of the others, including the slugs, is not known. According

  to the records there was some concern over the fate of the sheep that had become ‘so much attached to the horse that their separation might be fatal’. Denham’s celebrity was

  short-lived. The following year he was appointed Governor of Sierra Leone and died of fever five weeks into his new job.




  To Leicester Square and back




  Africa was a graveyard for British explorers. In 1806, a Scot, Mungo Park, disappeared while trying to trace the Niger to its mouth. Of the forty-six men who set out on

  the journey with Park, not one survived. Alexander Keith Johnston was only six months into his expedition to lakes Nyasa and Tanganyika when he died from a double dose of malaria and dysentery in

  1879. It left another Scot, twenty-one-year-old Joseph Thomson, in charge. Despite being gored by a buffalo and weak from malaria and subsequently acute dysentery, Thomson completed the mission

  without further loss of life. At one point he survived an attack from Maasai warriors by persuading them he had magical powers, an illusion he achieved by popping two false teeth in and out of his

  mouth and whenever danger approached, brewing up a fizzy froth of Eno’s Fruit Salts. He returned to London to write his celebrated book To the Central African Lakes and Back. The

  author J. M. Barrie once pressed Thomson to describe the most difficult leg of his incredible, epic journey. The young explorer replied: ‘Crossing Piccadilly Circus.’




  Scot of the Sahara




  One of the great geographical riddles of the nineteenth century was the location of the fabled African city of Timbuktu. According to legend, it was the seat of great

  power and learning, home to fabulous palaces and universities on which even the roof tiles were made of gold. In 1809, an English merchant traveller with a vivid imagination called James Jackson

  published a book called An Accurate and Interesting Account of Timbuktu, the Great Emporium of Central Africa. It made extraordinary claims, describing in great detail a city of immense

  wealth, crawling with beautiful, available women. Jackson’s book was a best-seller and Timbuktu became the ultimate prize for every red-blooded explorer. The French government offered 10,000

  francs for the first person to bring back information about it. The British, of course, were determined to get their man there first.




  Alexander Gordon Laing (1793–1826) was a young Scottish officer serving in the Royal African Colonial Corps in Sierra Leone. He certainly looked the part – tall and handsome, with

  wild curly hair and an impressive set of mutton-chop sideburns. Unfortunately, he was not particularly well qualified to lead an expedition to the centre of Africa. To start with, his health was

  described as ‘delicate’ and his grasp of African geography was hazy. He was also thought to be slightly mad. Laing, however, was not short of self-confidence. More to the point, he was

  extraordinarily cheap; he offered to find Timbuktu without taking any salary at all from the British Foreign Office, and with a proposed outlay of only £640 10s. for expedition set-up

  costs and annual expenses of £173 7s. 6d. His proposal was gratefully accepted.




  In May 1825, Laing set off for Africa on his cut-price expedition via Tripoli, where he promptly fell in love with and proposed to Emma, daughter of the British Consul Hanmer Warrington.

  Emma’s father, who had no desire to see his daughter marry a madman, much less one who was about to set off on a suicide mission into the world’s largest and harshest desert without a

  clear idea of where he was going, was appalled. Even worse, as British Consul he was the only senior representative of the Church of England in Tripoli and was expected to perform the marriage

  service himself. Warrington reluctantly agreed to officiate, on the condition that Laing sign an agreement that the marriage would not be consummated until after he had returned from Timbuktu.

  Mysteriously, Laing agreed to his terms. The couple tied the knot on 14 July 1825, and two days later Laing kissed his new bride goodbye, jumped on his camel and set off into the Sahara. His

  mission now assumed a new, more manic impetus: frustrated desire for his unobtainable Emma. ‘I shall do more than has ever been done before’, he wrote home to his parents, ‘and

  shall show myself to be what I have ever considered myself, a man of enterprise and genius.’




  As Laing recorded very little in terms of a journal over the coming months, more or less everything we know about his expedition is revealed in a series of highly emotional letters. His

  despatches revealed more about his gradually unravelling mental state than they did about African countryside. Amid the odd poem and sketch, plus random observations such as, ‘I must not

  meddle with the females of the country,’ they were mostly emotional, paranoid and disparaging rants about the efforts of previous African explorers, especially Hugh Clapperton, whom Laing

  despised. On the subject of clothing, he revealed that unlike Clapperton he had adopted ‘plain Turkish dress’ – except on Sundays, when he wore his full military uniform. He also

  regularly begged his father-in-law to send him a miniature portrait of ‘my dear, dear Emma’. Without it, he told Warrington a trifle belatedly, ‘I might go mad’. When the

  miniature finally arrived he was shocked to find that the portrait was not flattering to his beloved. To Laing’s eyes, Emma looked suspiciously pale and wan – not at all how he

  remembered her. Half out of his mind with worry, he decided to throw in the towel and return to Tripoli. Receiving this news, Warrington, fearful for his son-in-law’s sanity and even more

  fearful of his early return, wrote to reassure him that all was well with Emma. Laing wavered, then decided to press on to Timbuktu after seeing a large comet. ‘I regard it as a happy

  omen,’ he wrote. ‘It beckons me on and binds me to the termination of the Niger and to Timbuktu.’




  In January 1826, Laing and his small group were attacked by Tuareg tribesmen who stole all of their possessions and left Laing for dead. Writing with great difficulty using the thumb and middle

  finger of his left hand, he recorded his injuries in a letter to his father-in-law:




  

    

      To begin from the top, I have five sabre cuts on the crown of the head and three on the left temple, all fractures from which much bone has come away: one on my left cheek

      which fractured the jaw bone and had divided the ear, forming a very unsightly wound: one over the right temple and a dreadful gash on the back of the neck, which slightly grazed the windpipe:

      a musket ball in the hip, which made its way though my back, slightly grazing the backbone: five sabre cuts on my right arm and hand, three of the fingers broken, the hand cut three-fourths

      across, and the wrist bones cut through; three cuts on the left arm, the bone of which has been broken but is again uniting: one slight wound on the right leg and two with one dreadful gash on

      the left, to say nothing of a cut across the fingers of my left hand, now healed up.


    


  




  Laing almost forgot to add that he also had dysentery and was so ill ‘that it was presumed, expected and hoped that I would die’.




  Having travelled 2,650 miles of unmapped, hostile desert, with horrific multiple injuries, Laing reached his goal and entered the fabled city of Timbuktu on 13 August 1826. He searched

  everywhere for the glittering palaces and nubile lovelies he had heard of, but found only a poor, run-down frontier town full of mud huts and bandits. To make matters worse, Sultan Bello, the

  region’s powerful ruler, made it clear Laing wasn’t welcome. Weirdly, Laing wrote home that Timbuktu ‘has completely met my expectations’, possibly because he was trying to

  drum up interest in his forthcoming book. He spent the next five weeks strutting through the streets in full dress uniform announcing himself to everyone he met as the King of England’s

  emissary.




  Laing never got to see his beloved Emma again. On 21 September 1826, he wrote to her father saying that Timbuktu had become ‘exceedingly unsafe’ and it was time to move on. It was

  the last anyone ever heard of Alexander Gordon Laing. Three days later his northbound caravan was ambushed by Tuaregs. According to an eyewitness, Laing was throttled by two men with his own turban

  then decapitated and left for the vultures. News of Laing’s grisly death destroyed what was left of Emma’s health. She died of tuberculosis in October 1829, aged twenty-eight.




  Ujiji mobile library I presume?




  Preparation is the key to any successful expedition. Among David Livingstone’s provisions when he started his famous trek across Africa were 73 books weighing a

  total of 180 pounds. He eventually agreed to discard some of his mobile library, but only after his weary porters had carried them for 300 miles. As the journey continued, his library grew

  progressively smaller, until only his trusty Bible remained. Not very sensible, but still not quite in the same league as the French explorer Alexander Debaize, who reached Ujiji on the shores of

  Lake Tanganyika in eastern Africa in 1878 packing twenty-four umbrellas, two suits of armour and a portable organ. Livingstone died in Africa in 1873, after braving illness and years of paddling up

  and down snake-infested rivers, none of them, alas, leading to the source of the Nile. Along the way the great missionary was only able to convert a single African, who later lapsed.




  Twin piques




  To satisfy early nineteenth-century England’s craving for exotic conifers, the Scottish botanist David Douglas (1799–1834) braved whirlpools, grizzly bears,

  robbery, frostbite, snow blindness and near starvation in the Rocky Mountains.




  Douglas was renowned for his remarkable courage and tenacity. When his canoe sank in Fort George Canyon and he lost his entire collection of spruce seeds, he simply went back for more. When he

  found the propagating material of Pinus lambertiana out of reach, Douglas shot the cones down with his gun. At one point he was so hungry that he was forced to eat all the berries he had

  collected to bring home. His diary entries were recorded with scientific precision: ‘My feet tonight are very painful and my toes cut with the burned stumps of a strong species of Arundo and

  Spiraea tomentosa.’ He lived off the land and rarely had a tent, preferring to sleep wrapped in a blanket or under a canoe, but always travelled with a complete suit of Stuart tartan which he

  would slip into whenever the mood struck him, much to the amusement of local natives.




  Despite rapidly deteriorating eyesight, Douglas covered over 10,000 miles of Northwest America like a roving, frostbitten Mr Magoo, literally bumping into trees. This sight impairment led to an

  epic blunder. Douglas returned home from one of his trips to the Rockies and announced the discovery of two giant peaks, which he named Mount Hooker and Mount Brown after distinguished British

  botanists. For almost seventy years they were the subject of great excitement and speculation and were listed on every map as the two highest peaks in the Canadian Rocky Mountains, despite defying

  the very best efforts of experienced mountaineers to find either of them. The search for Douglas’s giant peaks was finally brought to a close when someone reread his original journals more

  carefully and noticed that he had claimed to have climbed both peaks in a single afternoon. In 1834, while looking for plants in Hawaii, the optically challenged Douglas stumbled into a pit that

  had been excavated to trap wild cattle and was gored to death by a bullock.




  Nuttall’s missing




  The pioneer Thomas Nuttall (1786–1859) is remembered eponymously in Nuttall’s woodpecker, Nuttall’s blister beetle, Nuttall’s sunflower,

  Nuttall’s evening primrose and Pica nuttalli, the yellowbilled magpie.




  Nuttall was by trade a typesetter from Yorkshire, who went to America in 1808 to take up a job with a printing company in Philadelphia. He was also an enthusiastic botanist and in 1811, at the

  age of twenty-five, he jumped at the chance of joining an expedition with John Jacob Astor’s Pacific Fur Company, travelling 1,500 miles along the Missouri River. As an explorer,

  Nuttall’s survival skills left something to be desired. His Canadian fellow travellers christened him le fou, the fool, after checking his gun before an Indian raid and finding it

  filled with dirt. He had been using it to dig up plants.




  Nuttall spent most of his time completely lost. He kept wandering away from his group while collecting plants and was so engrossed in his work that he couldn’t find his way back. One night

  when Nuttall failed to return a search party was sent out to look for him. He saw them approach in the dark and, mistaking them for Indians, ran off into the bush. The annoyed rescuers chased him

  for three days without success, until he accidentally wandered back into the camp unassisted. On another occasion in North Dakota, Nuttall somehow strayed a hundred miles away from his group and

  was so exhausted that he collapsed and lost consciousness. A passing Indian took pity on him, carried him three miles to the river and paddled him home in a canoe. Amazingly, Nuttall somehow found

  his way back to England, where he spent the next few years at the British Museum of Natural History studying the hundreds of plant specimens he had brought home with him. He came to be regarded as

  the world’s leading authority on the flora and fauna of Northwest America. As Nuttall rarely knew where he was at any given moment, his notes on the locations of some of his discoveries have

  since been found to be less than trustworthy. For example, he claims to have encountered the Willamette daisy in the Rocky Mountains, however it is now known that he must have found the plant much

  further west, in the Willamette Valley in Oregon, since it has never been known to grow anywhere else.




  Land of my fathers




  Most histories of the mapping of North America overlook the remarkable contribution of a little-known Welsh missionary, John Thomas Evans (1770–99). Evans found

  inspiration in a local legend, according to which the discovery of the New World was accomplished not by Christopher Columbus or Amerigo Vespucci, but by Madoc, son of the twelfth-century Welsh

  prince Owen Gwynedd. He sailed from Wales for America in 1170 with three hundred men, who settled and became the progenitors of a tribe of pale-skinned Welsh Indians. The origin of this story is

  not known. Owen Gwynedd had several sons but none called Madoc, although a seafarer named Madoc, unrelated and possibly mythical, crops up in medieval Welsh literature; one story has him colonizing

  an unspecified island paradise. The legend of Madoc first appeared in print in 1583, in a document written by Sir George Peckham supporting Queen Elizabeth I’s claim to the New World. It was

  intended to show that, as a Briton had landed in America long before Columbus, Elizabeth, not the King of Spain, had title to all American territories. The story of the lost tribe of Welsh-speaking

  Indians grew down the years, as reports of Madogwys (Madoc’s people) were brought back to Britain from travellers all over America. All told, there were sightings of at least twenty tribes of

  Welsh-speaking Indians, ranging from Peru to Canada, nearly always in areas hitherto inaccessible to white settlers.




  John Thomas Evans was the son of a Methodist preacher from Waunfawr, a village near Caernarvon in north Wales. There was more than a hint of madness in Evans’s Methodism. Having grown up

  with the legend of Madoc, he believed that he had been chosen by God to find the lost Welsh Indians. In 1792, at the age of twenty-two, he set sail for Baltimore to begin his quest, taking with him

  a Welsh Bible so that he could pray with his long-lost kinsmen in their ancestral language. Informed opinion had it that the wilds of North Dakota would be a good place for Evans to start looking.

  The local Indian tribe, the Mandan people, had pale skin and spoke a language that sounded very much like Welsh. Mandan women were also very talkative, even in bed – conclusive evidence of

  Welshness, apparently – although there was no word as to whether the Mandan menfolk played rugby or had a choir.




  In March 1793, Evans set out for the frontier from Philadelphia, through the Allegheny mountains and then going by boat up the Mississippi to St Louis. Louisiana was under the flag of Spain, and

  Evans was quickly arrested as a spy and locked up. After two years, he was released, having agreed to join a Scot called John Mackay who was leading a Spanish expedition to find a route through the

  Rocky Mountains to the Pacific. At this point no one knew what dangers lay ahead. It was thought that the area was populated with woolly mammoths and had mountains made of salt. Evans agreed to go

  along because the route took him close to the Mandan settlement, about 1,800 miles from St Louis.




  To recap, a Methodist preacher, working for a Scot in the service of Roman Catholic Spain, was now looking for Welsh-speaking Indians on the edge of the known world.




  About halfway to the Rockies, the party was frozen in for the winter at Fort Charles in Nebraska. In February, Mackay instructed Evans to strike out alone to find the Mandan settlement, but

  Evans was attacked by Sioux and fled back to camp. Evans tried again in June and this time actually reached the Mandan village in North Dakota. The Mandan chiefs received him warmly and he got to

  know them quite well, living with them in their large beehive-shaped dwelling through the bitterest of winters. He spent a total of seven months in their village, but in all that time Evans heard

  not a single word of Welsh.




  With a heavy heart, Evans said hwyl to his hosts and returned to civilization after a two-year absence. In 1797, he wrote in his report that ‘there is no such people as the Welsh

  Indians’. His spirit crushed, Evans drank himself to death in a St Louis bar two years later, aged twenty-eight. As for the Mandan tribe, smallpox wiped most of them out a couple of

  generations later. For all his eccentricity, Evans made a significant contribution to the sum of human knowledge. The map he made of the territories he had travelled through was later used by

  Meriwether Lewis and William Clark, leaders of the first overland expedition to the Pacific coast.




  Dromedary drama




  John Ainsworth Horrocks (1818–46) was arguably Britain’s unluckiest explorer ever. His name could have been written large as one of Australia’s greatest

  frontiersmen had his career not been cut tragically short after just six years.




  Horrocks was born into a wealthy cotton mill-owning family from Lancashire. When he was twenty-one he emigrated to Australia, where his father had bought him one thousand acres of sheep-farming

  land near Adelaide. Over time, Horrocks discovered that his true vocation was roaming the outback. Described as ‘a young man of splendid physique’, he imagined himself as a dashing,

  romantic, Byronic figure. He named his favourite greyhound Gulnare after a slave-girl in Byron’s The Corsair. He travelled with a handful of companions, including his faithful butler,

  but remained aloof, eating alone every night at some distance from the others at a barrel specially set up for him, with a freshly laundered tablecloth and a silver fork and spoon. He found several

  local geographical features which still bear the names he gave them, including Mount Horrocks and Horrocks Pass. In 1841, he named a plain he passed Gulnare, celebrating his greyhound’s

  success in catching and killing emus for him to eat.




  In 1846, Horrocks set out to conquer the hitherto impenetrable hinterland of South Australia with several goats, a bull called Harry and an unnamed camel imported from Tenerife. The addition of

  the camel to the party was seen as a logistical masterstroke because previous expeditions, equipped with horses and bullocks, had all perished in the fierce heat. The decision turned out to be less

  of a coup than anticipated when, not long into the journey, the camel attacked their cook, biting a large chunk out of his head. A couple of days later the recalcitrant camel struck again, lurching

  into Horrocks just as he was loading his gun and causing him accidentally to shoot himself in the lower jaw, knocking out half of his teeth. Horrocks died in agony from his injuries several days

  later, the first explorer to be shot dead by his own camel. Horrocks was a visionary, because within twenty years camels were considered indispensable to any successful expedition into the outback.

  It would end in tears for Harry the bull, though, who was sentenced to death for killing his master; Horrocks had in fact suggested it so the good name of camels would not be besmirched by the

  unfortunate accident. Harry of course was not inclined to go quietly When the first bullet failed to kill him, he turned and bit the head of an aborigine called Jimmy.




  Strippers with attitude




  The mountaineer George Mallory (1887–1924) was one of the most romantic figures in the history of exploration. In 1923, the heroic Mallory was asked by a New York

  journalist: ‘Why do you want to climb Everest?’ It produced his historic reply, now a catchphrase in the English language for responding to a formidable challenge: ‘Because it is

  there.’ Shortly after noon on 8 June 1924, Mallory, on his third Everest assault, together with his twenty-two-year-old companion Andrew ‘Sandy’ Irvine, vanished somewhere near

  the summit. The discovery of Mallory’s frozen, bleached corpse seventy-five years later sparked Everest’s greatest ‘Who got there first?’ mystery. It also led to the

  publication in the British press of some photos of Mallory strolling around the countryside, naked but for his rucksack, shedding new light on the great adventurer’s unorthodox approach to

  mountaineering.




  In the best tradition of the upper-middle-class English amateur, Mallory was alarmingly forgetful and careless. On several mountaineering expeditions he took photos at the summit only to find

  later that he had left the lens cap on his camera. On his fateful Everest ascent he forgot to pack his torch and magnesium flares, equipment which could have saved his life. He also liked to stride

  around the lower altitudes of Everest stark naked. It wasn’t the first time Mallory had climbed a mountain in the buff. In 1912, wearing only plimsolls, he and a friend attempted to climb a

  steep granite sea cliff near Land’s End in Cornwall. Mallory’s biographers Peter and Leni Gillman note that ‘their lack of clothing posed some interesting technical problems on

  the abrasive crystalline granite at the top of the route’.




  Turned out nice again




  In 1932, Maurice Wilson, manager of a women’s clothes shop in Yorkshire, attempted the first ever solo ascent of Mount Everest by crash-landing a plane on the slopes

  of the world’s highest peak at altitude, then walking to the summit. There were, however, a couple of flaws in Wilson’s bold plan. He didn’t own a plane and had never flown one

  before, let alone done any mountain climbing; but Wilson was resolute. He went out and bought a three-year-old Gypsy Moth plane and named it the Ever Wrest, then booked himself some flying lessons.

  Although a less than gifted pilot, after a few sessions he decided he was ready to go on his great adventure. He was planning to fly to his parents’ house to say goodbye, but crash-landed the

  plane en route and was delayed for several weeks while he waited for repairs. By this time the authorities had got wind of Wilson’s attempt, and did their best to stop him. He was forbidden

  to enter Nepalese airspace and was put under surveillance. In 1933, however, Wilson slipped out of England and flew 5,000 miles to India, where he was forced to abandon his plane and complete the

  rest of his illegal ascent on foot. Having sold his plane for £500, he hiked overland through Tibet disguised as a monk and on 17 May arrived at the foot of Mount Everest. Wilson was

  convinced he could surmount any obstacle, including the world’s highest peak, via a combination of fasting and prayer. His Sherpas begged to differ and abandoned him at 21,000 feet, but

  Wilson climbed on, braving yawning crevasses and increasingly desperate weather before dying of exposure. A year later, a British party found his frozen corpse and beside it his diary.

  Wilson’s final entry, for 31 May, was: ‘Off again, gorgeous day’




  Bats and bigotry




  The Yorkshireman Charles Waterton (1782–1865) was a pioneer among English naturalists. When he was twenty-two, he left the family seat at Walton Hall to take over

  the management of his father’s sugar estates in British Guiana. He was fascinated by the local wildlife and spent the next twenty years scouring the tropical rainforests of South America,

  collecting specimens of birds and animals in a series of extraordinary trips into the largely unknown hinterland, and penetrating thousands of miles of unexplored jungle. What made these journeys

  even more unusual was that he did it in his bare feet, a policy he maintained in spite of the odd painful accident.




  He once ripped open one of his feet while chasing a woodpecker and cured the wound by applying hot poultices of boiled cow’s dung. On another occasion he was badly injured when he

  accidentally shot himself while loading his gun. He dressed the wound with dung then bled himself using his lancet. Waterton’s faith in bloodletting, a routine he called ‘tapping

  one’s claret’, was extreme. He bled himself so copiously it was said that he was unattractive even to a vampire bat. Waterton made an important medical discovery when he correctly

  identified that curare, the mysterious ‘flying death’ once used by Amazonian tribes to tip their arrows and immobilize their prey, was not, as was thought, a deadly poison, but a

  powerful muscle-relaxing agent. He proved his point by taking some samples from a native tribe and trying it out on three donkeys. Two died, but the third was resuscitated by means of bellows and

  lived on. For her work in the cause of science, the surviving donkey earned an obituary in London’s popular evening newspaper the St. James’s Chronicle.




  On a single trip Waterton collected hundreds of rare insects, two hundred and thirty birds, two tortoises, five armadillos, two large serpents, a sloth, an ant bear and an alligator. The

  encounter with the alligator was later sensationally described in his best-selling book Wanderings in South America. He snared the thrashing reptile with a hook and rope, then he and his

  assistants hauled it onto the riverbank, where Waterton advanced to meet it armed with the eight-foot mast from his canoe, which he planned to ram down its throat. Having noted on the

  alligator’s face a look of ‘fear and perturbation’, according to the author, he changed his mind and threw his weapon away, then jumped onto the alligator’s back and rode it

  Tarzan-style back to his camp, where ‘I cut his throat and after breakfast commenced dissection’. He dismissed this stunt as ‘no more difficult than riding with the local

  hunt’.




  Waterton always favoured a hands-on approach to his field-work. He spent six months sleeping with his foot dangling out of his hammock hoping to be bitten by a vampire bat. He was bitterly

  disappointed when one failed to take the bait and bit his Indian servant instead. Once, watching as his native guides struggled to capture a large boa constrictor, he ordered them to stand aside

  and, removing the braces holding up his trousers, tied them around the snake’s jaws. He shared his bedroom with a huge snake, ‘fourteen feet long, not poisonous, but large enough to

  have crushed one of us to death’, the author noted. Waterton’s book did more than record incredible encounters with wildlife and notes on the preservation of dead animals; it also

  contained idiosyncratic observations on politics, religion and the Hanoverian monarchy.




  Waterton came from one of England’s oldest and proudest Catholic families, claiming among their ancestors seven saints, including Sir Thomas More. The Watertons held onto their faith and

  their ancient seat at Walton Hall, despite occasional extreme financial hardship, which they blamed on Hanoverian Protestants. In Charles Waterton, the old family fire of righteous indignation

  blazed on. He regularly attending meetings of the local Protestant Reformation Society just so he could heckle the speakers.




  During his travels Waterton also invented his own method of taxidermy. By marinating his specimens in a cocktail of chemicals, he reduced them to a rubber-like state that allowed him not only to

  preserve them perfectly but also to manipulate their limbs into various lifelike postures. When he left British Guiana he took with him hundreds of exotic specimens of carefully preserved South

  American wildlife. On his return to England, a horrified customs officer at Liverpool docks took one look at Waterton’s grim shipload of rubbery animal trophies and immediately impounded

  them. Eventually the Treasury relented and let him bring them in, subject to a punitive 20 per cent import duty. Waterton protested bitterly, but in the end had no choice but to pay up to get his

  collection home.




  Waterton never forgave Britain’s ‘Hanoverian’ Treasury for what he perceived as another deliberate attempt to steal Catholic money. Back at Walton Hall he used his taxidermal

  know-how to enact hideous revenge in a series of mad, hybrid fantasies. Rubberized monkeys, bats and reptiles were manipulated into horrifying caricatures of members of the Protestant

  establishment. Animal parts from different species were grafted onto each other in grotesque combinations. A creation he called the ‘Noctifer’, a combination of bittern and eagle owl,

  represented ‘the Spirit of the Dark Ages, unknown in England before the Reformation’. A monkey with horns represented ‘Martin Luther after his fall’. Another hybrid

  grotesque was called ‘John Bull and the National Debt’. The most infamous of Waterton’s weird concoctions, the ‘Nondescript’, had hairy but distinctly humanoid

  features and was made chiefly from the parts of a howler monkey. Waterton claimed he found it in Guiana and it was the missing link in the evolution of man from an ape-like creature

  ‘according to the theory recently advanced by Mr. Charles Darwin’. Several naturalists were completely taken in and believed that the creature Waterton had killed and mounted was human.

  In a certain light, however, the Nondescript bore an uncanny resemblance to Waterton’s chief adversary, one J. R. Lushington, Secretary to the Treasury. It was rumoured that the Nondescript

  was Waterton’s attempt to ‘make a monkey’ out of the tax collector, but never proven.




  Waterton’s flair for self-publicity ensured huge sales for his book and greatly increased his reputation for eccentric behaviour, something he was more than happy to play up to. Defying

  the formal fashion of his day, he kept his hair very short and wore an old-fashioned swallow-tailed coat and shoes several sizes too large. When he wasn’t shocking visitors to Walton Hall in

  Yorkshire with his ghoulish collection of dead animals (he once surprised his dinner guests by displaying the partially dissected corpse of a primate on his dining table), he would suddenly stand

  on his head, or go down on all fours and bite his guests’ ankles, or demonstrate the benefits of being double-jointed by scratching the back of his head with the big toe of his right

  foot.




  In the 1850s, at a fantastic cost of nearly £10,000, Waterton built the world’s first private wildlife sanctuary and nature reserve at Walton Hall and opened it to the public. There

  was just one animal that wasn’t welcome in his sanctuary – the common brown rat, which Waterton was convinced had been introduced to England by the Protestant King George I. The

  extermination of the ‘Hanoverian rat’ from the grounds of Walton Hall was an obsession. He kept them at bay with the aid of arsenic, booby traps, owls and a Demerara tiger cat, although

  he occasionally took time out to fire pot shots with his musket at actual Hanoverians over the walls of his estate. He was once seen dashing a dead rat’s brains out against a wall, crying,

  ‘Death to Hanoverians!’




  Although he was wealthy and highly eligible, Waterton remained single until he was forty-eight, possibly because of his habit of talking to insects, or the fact that his clothes stank of

  bichloride of mercury, the substance he used to preserve his infamous specimens from decay. Waterton had apparently been infatuated with a friend’s daughter, Anne Edmonstone, from when she

  was an infant, and had vowed to marry her just as soon as she was old enough. He kept his promise when she turned seventeen, thirty-one years his junior. Waterton’s poor teenage bride, having

  spent two years in a convent to prepare for conversion to Catholicism, died less than twelve months after her wedding day, six days after giving birth to their son Edmund. Waterton was racked with

  guilt and as a form of penance spent the remaining thirty-five years of his life sleeping on the floor wrapped in a cloak with a block of wood for a pillow. He rose at 3.30 a.m., spent an hour at

  prayer, breakfasted on dry toast, then for lunch sat down to eat a piece of bread with watercress and a cup of weak tea. He ate so little that he could still get into his old school uniform, a

  blue-tailed coat with gold buttons and a check waistcoat, which he wore into his eighties. His frugal lifestyle also kept him amazingly fit. He was a dedicated climber and loved to climb trees

  around his estate. In his late seventies he tried to fly with the aid of a pair of mechanical wings attached to his shoulders. Fortunately a friend arrived just in time to prevent him from jumping

  off the roof of an outhouse. Waterton was still climbing right up to the age of eighty-three, when he fell from a tree and died from his injuries.




  The cunning linguist




  Richard Francis Burton (1821–90), explorer, writer, linguist, expert swordsman and connoisseur of Eastern erotica, burst into the British public consciousness in the

  early 1850s, when he offered his services to the Royal Geographical Society by volunteering to visit the forbidden Islamic holy cities of Mecca and Medina. It was, on the face of it, a suicide

  mission; fewer than half a dozen non-Muslims had made the trip and lived. Burton’s cunning plan, however, was to make the journey disguised as an Arab pilgrim. The RGS knew he meant business

  because he had himself circumcised, which is probably taking your travel preparations a bit too far. Burton went to Egypt where he spent several weeks polishing his Arabic before taking on the

  persona of an Afghan physician. He was so successful in his role that he developed a thriving practice, curing the illnesses of his fellow pilgrims with little more than rosewater and iodine. On 11

  September 1853, Burton did something no European had ever done before: he went to the Great Mosque and stood before the Kaaba. His book A Personal Narrative of a Pilgrimage to Al-Madinah &

  Meccah made him internationally famous and became a classic of travel literature.




  In April 1855, the RGS called on their man again, this time to solve the greatest geographical mystery of the day: the source of the Nile. The dark, swarthy Burton chose as his travelling

  companion the blond, boyish and altogether more sensible John Hanning Speke. Their first trip was a disaster. Attacked and overwhelmed by a large party of Africans, Burton and Speke had to fight

  for their lives and both were badly wounded. Burton was transfixed by a spear that passed through both cheeks, knocking out four of his teeth. A year later Burton and Speke tried again. The time

  their expedition was marred by desertion and illness. Most of their equipment was either lost or stolen. Speke became deaf after attempting to dig out a beetle from his inner ear with a knife and

  half a pound of melted butter, and suffered from a severe eye infection that made him temporarily blind, but was in better shape than Burton, who was riddled with tropical disease and being carried

  everywhere on a litter. With his expedition leader temporarily incapacitated, Speke continued alone, and after trekking for twenty-five days came across a vast blue water which he named Lake

  Victoria. Speke concluded that this was the Nile’s source and dashed back to Burton to give him the news.




  Burton was devastated when he realized that he had been scooped by a subordinate. To rub salt in the wound, when they got back to London Speke rushed to the RGS to claim the source of the Nile

  for himself, breaking a gentleman’s agreement that they should report back together. Having shared their momentous experience and braved horrific ordeals together, Burton and Speke spent the

  rest of their lives hating each other’s guts. In September 1864, both men were invited to present their case for priority in a showdown at a meeting of the RGS in Bath. Burton was to argue

  that Speke had offered no supporting evidence that Lake Victoria was the source of the Nile; Speke planned to stand by his conviction. It was billed as the scientific duel of the decade. On the day

  before the debate was due to take place, however, Speke shot himself. He could face disease, hostile natives and wild animals in the heart of Africa, but his nerve failed him when he had to face

  Burton again.




  Unlike the other great Victorian explorers, Burton also liked to explore native sexual practices, which he recorded during his various trips to Africa, India and the Middle East in minutely

  graphic detail. His assiduous hands-on approach to field research gave cause for concern, a clue to which he gave while observing the Wagogo tribeswomen of East Africa, recording in his notes,

  ‘They are well disposed towards strangers of fairer complexion and have no difficulty obtaining the consent of the husbands to be absent for the night.’ When the British general in

  India Sir Charles Napier sent Burton to investigate the homosexual brothels of Karachi, Burton wrote his report in such fine detail, supported by several diagrams, that there was little doubt he

  was writing from first-hand experience. Burton was rarely far from scandal. He was said to have sampled every available brothel east of Suez and once attempted to kidnap and rape a nun.
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